
STATE OF VERMONT
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In Re: Paul Kulig
PRB File No. 2020-066

RESPONDENT’S MEMORANDUM OF LAW

NOW COMES Paul S. Kulig, the Respondent in this matter, by and through his attorney,

Timothy L. Taylor, and submits this Memorandum of Law for review by the Panel prior to the June

21, 2021 hearing.

The intention of this memorandum is to provide the basic legal framework within which the

facts should be viewed.  While all the facts will not be presented or argued exhaustively, it is

important to present some of the evidence that will be elicited so the Panel has an idea of where the

evidence will likely lead.

A. Factual Background

It is not believed that many, if any facts, are in dispute.  A synopsis follows so the Panel can

have some context when evaluating the legal principles herein.

Paul Kulig represented Louise Zygo for more than a decade before her death. Ms. Zygo’s

sister may have been married to Mr. Kulig’s great-uncle or distant cousin.  However, Mr. Kulig

considered Ms. Zygo a friend, not a close family member. They knew each other from the circles of

West Rutland, and from the Catholic community in West Rutland.

Mr. Kulig had prepared a will for Ms. Zygo in 2006, and that will had been changed by Ms.

Zygo in 2011.  The 2011 Will named a number of Ms. Zygo’s family members as beneficiaries,

including her sister, niece, and grand nephews. Between 2011 and 2014, Ms. Zygo suffered a

substantial fall.  She was briefly moved to a nursing home to recover.  Ms. Zygo’s family and doctor



recommended that she permanently move into a nursing home.  She vehemently resisted that, and

returned to live at her home.

In 2014, while still living at home, Ms. Zygo contacted Mr. Kulig about changing her will.

Some of the people in her 2011 Will had died, and she also complained that her relatives had been

asking her for money, and that seemed to be the only reason they contacted her. She wanted to

change her will to keep them from bothering her about her money.  Mr. Kulig discussed with Ms.

Zygo the high monthly costs of a nursing home.  Mr. Kulig advised Ms. Zygo that she should

consider a more complex estate planning strategy to avoid potential Medicaid liens on her house

after her liquid assets were exhausted and Medicaid would be paying for the nursing home. 

When Ms. Zygo refused to engage in more complex estate planning, Mr. Kulig advised her

that under Vermont law if she were to deed her house to someone with a “Lady Bird Johnson deed,”

it would likely avoid recapture from Medicaid.  Then the house would be able to be sold after her

death clear of any Medicaid claim, and the proceeds could then be passed on to her intended

beneficiaries if the recipient of the deed adhered to her wishes.

Mr. Kulig discussed with Ms. Zygo a number of possible relatives, as well as whether there

were possibly non-relatives close to her, to whom she could convey the property via such a deed, and

who would likely adhere to her wishes after her death and sell the property and distribute the

proceeds to her intended beneficiaries.  Ms. Zygo was hearing nothing of it.  She was suspicious that

everybody only wanted money from her.  In short, she trusted virtually no one.

Ms. Zygo instead insisted that the deed be prepared with Mr. Kulig as the recipient.  She was

sure that he would pass the proceeds of her estate in the way that she wanted.  As she stated at the

signing of the will, he was a “good Catholic boy.”  Mr. Kulig suggested Ms. Zygo hire another

attorney to draft the will and deed if what she wanted to do was convey the property to Mr. Kulig
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to hold in trust.  Again, Ms. Zygo was hearing nothing of it.  Because of Mr. Kulig’s concerns that

Ms. Zygo would simply drop the subject and her estate would be entirely recaptured by Medicaid

- something that she definitely did not want - Mr. Kulig reluctantly agreed to Ms. Zygo’s wishes. 

So in 2014, Mr. Kulig prepared another will for Ms. Zygo.  He also prepared a Lady Bird Johnson

deed, preserving a life estate to herself, with the balance being conveyed to Mr. Kulig.  The intention

of Ms. Zygo was that the property was to be held by Mr. Kulig in trust, and that after her death he

was to liquidate any assets and distribute them on a pro rata1 basis to the intended beneficiaries. 

Not long after this estate planning, Ms. Zygo did indeed have to enter a nursing home.  After

a couple of years, almost all of her non-homestead assets had been used to pay for that cost.  She

then qualified for Medicaid to pay for her nursing home. 

Ms. Zygo died on May 19, 2018.  At that point, the legal title to the house passed fully to Mr.

Kulig by operation of the deed. The cash in her bank account (approx. $8,000) still sits in the account

in Ms. Zygo’s name, and ultimately, one way or another, will be paid to either the nursing home or

the State Vermont for Medicaid reimbursement.  Had Ms. Zygo not entered into this trust

arrangement with Mr. Kulig, virtually all of the value of her house would have been recaptured by

Medicaid, and her intended beneficiaries would have received little or nothing.

B. The Claims against Mr. Kulig

The Petition of Misconduct raises three claims against Mr. Kulig:

• That Mr. Kulig solicited a substantial testamentary gift from Ms. Zygo in violation
of Vermont Rules of Professional Conduct Rule 1.8(c);

1“Pro rata” in this context meaning that the remaining assets would be distributed to the beneficiaries in the
percentage that they would had received had the assets not been dissipated by paying for her nursing home and other
expenses that were paid during the final years of her life.  For instance, if a beneficiary would have received 40 percent
of her assets prior to the dissipation of the assets, they would have been paid 40 percent of the remaining assets after the
dissipation.
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• That Mr. Kulig prepared a will in which Ms. Zygo bequeathed and devised to him her
entire estate in violation of Vermont Rules of Professional Conduct Rule 1.8(c); 

• That Mr. Kulig failed to obtain written informed consent from Ms. Zygo informing
her that there was a significant risk that the client would be materially limited by the
lawyer’s personal interest in violation of Vermont Rules of Professional Conduct
Rule 1.7(a)(2); 1.7(b)(4).

Inasmuch as Mr. Kulig was not benefitting personally from this estate planning structure on which

Ms. Zygo had insisted, Mr. Kulig denies each of these three claims.

C. Burden of Proof

The burden of proof in this proceeding is on the Petitioner.  Administrative Order No. 9, Rule

16(D).  Burden of proof, of course, means the obligation to establish the truth of the claim upon

which the Petitioner rests its case.  See, e.g., Town of Manchester v. Town of Townshend, 110 Vt.

136; 2 A.2d 207 (1938).  The standard the Petitioner must demonstrate to meet that burden of proof

in this case is “clear and convincing evidence.”   Administrative Order No. 9, Rules 11(D)(5)(b) and

16(D).  The Vermont Supreme Court has defined this standard as follows:

“Clear and convincing evidence is a ‘very demanding’ standard, requiring somewhat
less than evidence beyond a reasonable doubt, but more than a preponderance of the
evidence. [It] does not require that evidence in support of a fact be uncontradicted,
but does require that the fact’s existence be ‘highly probable.’ “ In re E.T., 2004 VT
111, ¶ 12, 177 Vt. 405, 865 A.2d 416.”

In re Kane, 2017 VT 48, 204 Vt. 635, 637; 169 A.3d 180, 2017 VT 48 (2017).  It is suggested that

the Petitioner will not be able to meet its burden that it is “highly probable” that Mr. Kulig violated

any of the ethical canons upon which this Petition was brought.

D. Medicaid Considerations

The overarching driving force of the estate planning structure on which Ms. Zygo settled was

the risk of her estate being entirely depleted by Medicaid recapture in the event that she went into
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a nursing home.  The concern, of course, was that the house would ultimately have to be sold to pay

for those expenses, and her intended beneficiaries would receive nothing.

While Medicaid is a federal program, it is administered by the states.  See, e.g., 42 U.S.C.

§§ 1396-1 et seq.  Each state operates its own Medicaid program within federal guidelines. Id. 

Because the federal guidelines are broad, states have a great deal of flexibility in designing and

administering their programs.

A device has arisen called an “Enhanced Life Estate Deed” or a “Ladybird Johnson Deed”

to avoid recovery by Medicaid.2  These deeds transfer real property to others but reserve to the

owners all present ownership rights, including the right to sell, lease, mortgage or convey the

property during their lifetimes. This keeps control of the property with the original owners during

their lives, but passes the property outside probate on their deaths. It is not considered a penalized

transfer for Medicaid purposes, and it avoids Medicaid recovery by avoiding probate.  See Medicaid

Covered Services Rules, Rule 7108.3.3.3

So for Ms. Zygo the Ladybird Johnson Deed was a useful tool.  Indeed, it may have been the

only tool available given her refusal to engage in other forms of estate planning that may have

accomplished the same purpose.

E. The Trust

The ultimate consideration for this Panel will be whether Ms. Zygo intended to create a trust

(with Mr. Kulig as the trustee) to administer any remaining assets for the benefit of any beneficiaries.

In Vermont, a trust is created if:

(1) the settlor has capacity to create a trust;

2These deeds are now expressly permitted by statute (27 V.S.A. §§ 651 et seq.), although adoption of that statute
does not affect the validity of such deeds previously executed.  27 V.S.A. § 659.

3These are the rules of the Vermont Agency of Human Services, Department of Vermont Health Access.
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(2) the settlor indicates an intention to create the trust;
(3) the trust has a definite beneficiary;
(4) the trustee has duties to perform; and,
(5) the same person is not the sole trustee and sole beneficiary of all beneficial

interests.

14A V.S.A. § 402.  The Vermont Legislature in 2009 recognized that oral trusts are permissible:

 . . . a trust need not be evidenced by a trust instrument, but the creation of an oral
trust and its terms may be established only by clear and convincing evidence.

14A V.S.A. § 407 (in pertinent part).  There is no case law interpreting this recent oral trust statute. 

Of interest is the pre-statute case law is Mahoney v. Leddy, 126 Vt. 98; 223 A.2d 456 (1966). 

Mahoney indicates that the declaration of the trustee is sufficient to establish an oral trust.4  126 Vt.

at 101.  In addition to Mahoney, we also have the plain language of the trust statutes.  When the

language of a statute is plain and unambiguous, it is to be construed in conformity with that

language.  Stockwell v. District Court, 143 Vt. 45, 49; 460 A.2d 466 (1983).  It is presumed that the

“Legislature meant what it said and said what it meant.”  Burl. Elec. Dept. v. VDT, 154 Vt. 332, 336;

576 A.2d 450 (1990).  Therefore, the inquiry involves the five factors in 14A V.S.A. § 402, and

whether it is shown by clear and convincing evidence whether an oral trust was created (14A V.S.A.

§ 402). 

It is believed that the only evidence presented will effectively show the creation of an oral

trust by Ms. Zygo.  Included in the evidence showing the five factors (as well as the declaration by

the trustee under Mahoney) will be:

• Testimony from Mr. Kulig and Mr. Sullivan that Ms. Zygo specifically wanted Mr.
Kulig to control, liquidate, and convey the proceeds to beneficiaries after her death;

4Other case may have discussed oral trusts, but would not have any bearing on this case.  See, e.g., Frogate v.
Kissell, 138 Vt. 167; 412 A.2d 1138 (1980)(Vermont Supreme Court deferred to trial court.  Trial court’s finding of fact
that there was no oral trust was not clearly erroneous).
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• Testimony that Mr. Kulig on several occasions beseeched Ms. Zygo to use a more
formal structure, or to use another lawyer, but that she declined;

• Testimony that Mr. Kulig discussed with Ms. Zygo on several occasions a number
of possible relatives she could use as a trustee, as well as whether there were possibly
non-relatives close to her, to whom she could convey the property via such a deed,
and who would likely adhere to her wishes after her death and sell the property and
distribute the proceeds to her intended beneficiaries, but that Ms. Zygo did not want
to do this;

• Testimony and documents that show that since Ms. Zygo’s death, Mr. Kulig has
acted entirely as the trustee of a trust would act, has not profited in any fashion, and
has only acted in the interest of the intended beneficiaries;

• That because of the effective, albeit unorthodox, structure of Ms. Zygo’s last estate
planning, there are assets in existence for the beneficiaries.  But for Mr. Kulig’s
actions, Ms. Zygo’s actions would have been virtually fully depleted.

In short, each of the factors will be met showing the existence of an oral trust.

F. Interplay Between the Existence of the Trust and the Claim of Ethical Violations

The panel will recall that the three claimed ethical violations by Mr. Kulig were:

• That Mr. Kulig solicited a substantial testamentary gift from Ms. Zygo in violation
of Vermont Rules of Professional Conduct Rule 1.8(c);

• That Mr. Kulig prepared a will in which Ms. Zygo bequeathed and devised to him her
entire estate in violation of Vermont Rules of Professional Conduct Rule 1.8(c); 

• That Mr. Kulig failed to obtain written informed consent from Ms. Zygo informing
her that there was a significant risk that the client would be materially limited by the
lawyer’s personal interest in violation of Vermont Rules of Professional Conduct
Rule 1.7(a)(2); 1.7(b)(4).

If the evidence demonstrates that the estate planning by Ms. Zygo through Mr. Kulig was, indeed

a trust, then none of these ethical violations existed.  He did not seek, nor did he receive, any assets

from Ms. Zygo other than in a trustee capacity.  He did not benefit from that status. Hence, he also

did not have a personal interest that required “informed consent.”  None of the claimed violations

is well-founded. 
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